**S272113**

Docket No. 20-16796

*In the*  
**UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS**  
*For the*  
**NINTH CIRCUIT**

---

---

MICHAEL R. RATTAGAN,  
*Plaintiff-Appellant,*

vs.

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,  
*Defendant-Appellee.*

---

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF THE  
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA  
CASE No. 3:19-cv-01988-EMC  
HON. EDWARD M. CHEN, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

---

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT MICHAEL R. RATTAGAN**

---

Andrew A. August, Esq., California State Bar No. 112851

Allan Steyer, Esq., California State Bar No. 100318

Jill K. Cohoe, Esq., California State Bar No. 296844

**STEYER LOWENTHAL BOODROOKAS**

**ALVAREZ & SMITH LLP**

## **I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This appeal by Plaintiff/Appellant Michael Rattagan (“Rattagan”) is from a final Judgment entered on August 19, 2020 in favor of Defendant/Respondent Uber Technologies, Inc. (“Uber”) following the District Court’s August 19, 2020 “Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismissing Case with Prejudice” pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). 1-ER-002 and 1-ER-019. The District Court’s jurisdiction was based on 28 U.S.C. Section 1332 as the matter in controversy exceeded the value of \$75,000, and Rattagan is a citizen of a different country than Uber. On September 16, 2020, Rattagan timely filed his Notice of Appeal. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1291.

## **II. INTRODUCTION**

Rattagan is an Argentine lawyer who was hired by Uber to provide legal services and be the legal representative in Buenos Aires for its wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries. When Rattagan was first hired in 2013, he told Uber in writing that under Argentine law, as a legal representative, he could be held personally responsible for any illegal activities by Uber in the country.

In April 2016, Uber launched its now ubiquitous Uber Rideshare in Buenos Aires without telling Rattagan it was doing so. More significantly, Uber also concealed from Rattagan that it had been informed months earlier during a series of meetings with Buenos Aires’ governmental officials that the City considered Uber’s

business model to be unlawful under City transportation regulations and warned Uber against launching Rideshare. Thus, Rattagan was Uber's registered legal representative at the time of the launch. Uber's fraudulent concealments prevented him from taking the steps necessary to protect himself, including withdrawing as Uber's lawyer and legal representative.

The Buenos Aires prosecutor arrested Rattagan and charged him with, among other things, aggravated tax evasion despite Rattagan's lack of involvement in or knowledge of the launch or of the City's dire warnings. His business reputation and his law practice suffered significant economic harm. This lawsuit sought to recover those damages based on tort theories, including fraudulent concealment and intentional omission and aiding and abetting.

The District Court dismissed the operative complaint with prejudice and entered judgment against Rattagan. Relevant to this appeal, the Court ruled that Rattagan's fraud claims are barred by California's Economic Loss Rule ("ELR" or the "Rule"). The ELR is a common law rule that precludes recovery in tort for what are essentially contract damages. The District Court ruled that because Rattagan's fraud claim was "rooted" in an implied-in-fact attorney-client contract with Uber (there is no written contract and no particular terms or conditions), he could not as a matter of law recover tort damages. Because Uber's only contractual obligation was to pay Rattagan's legal bills, which it did, this ruling together with the Court's

dismissal of Rattagan’s negligence-based claims based on the applicable two-year statute of limitation,<sup>1</sup> effectively rendered him without a remedy.

The District Court erred as a matter of law in applying the ELR to Rattagan’s claims in the first place and because it failed to address or misconstrued several exceptions to the ELR. After summarizing the key factual allegations in the operative complaint (*see* fn. 3, *infra*) and the procedural history of the case, this brief will explain why the ELR does not apply. It will then discuss why, even if the Rule is applicable, several exceptions preclude its application to the facts here. These exceptions include the “separate duty” exception, the “fraud” exception, the “special relationship” exception, and the “professional services” exception. Each of these exceptions dictates that the order granting Uber’s motion to dismiss and judgment thereon should be vacated and the case remanded to District Court so Rattagan can have his proverbial “day in court.”

To uphold the District Court’s order, this Court must determine as a matter of law that: (1) clients have no duty of disclosure to their lawyers of their business plans even where those plans are related to the services to be provided by the lawyer and even when failure to disclose places the lawyer in harm’s way; (2) intentional fraudulent concealment, as distinct from affirmative misrepresentation, does not

---

<sup>1</sup> This appeal does not challenge the District Court’s statute of limitation holding.

obviate application of the ELR to tort claims; and (3) the attorney-client relationship is not a “special relationship” for purposes of the ELR. These conclusions, however, are contrary to strong social policy that is the bedrock of the attorney-client relationship – the ability of the attorney and client to freely and confidentially exchange information between them in furtherance of the client’s interests. Lawyers in Rattagan’s shoes will be loath to represent clients knowing they could become a sacrificial lamb if the client decides to go rogue without any duty of disclosure toward the attorney. This Court should not condone such a result.<sup>2</sup>

### **III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Does the ELR apply to Rattagan’s fraud claims even though there was no contract that addresses Uber’s duties of disclosure, no breach of contract claim asserted and Rattagan suffered no contract damages?
2. Does the attorney-client relationship include any duty owing from the client to the lawyer, separate and distinct from the client’s contractual duty to pay the lawyer, where the client solely possesses material facts that are relevant to the attorney’s representation and could form the basis for the lawyer’s personal liability?
3. If the answer to Issue Two is yes, then did Uber have a common law duty

---

<sup>2</sup> Remarkably, there seems to be no prior case that has explored the boundaries of legal duties running from client to lawyer in the tort context. Thus, this appeal presents a clean slate upon which this Court may write.

- i.e., one separate from the implied-in-fact attorney-client arrangement - to disclose to Rattagan its meetings with Buenos Aires government officials, their warnings not to launch Rideshare and its intent to do so despite the warnings, where Uber was told in advance by Rattagan that he could be held personally responsible for Uber’s alleged illegal activities?
4. Does the ELR apply to shield a client from tort liability to its lawyer for intentional fraudulent concealment of material facts where the concealment prevents the lawyer from taking steps to protect himself from the risk of personal liability resulting from the client’s actions?
  5. Does the “Special Relationship” exception to the ELR based on the attorney-client relationship between Uber and Rattagan exempt Rattagan’s claims from the ELR?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND<sup>3</sup>**

Rattagan is a prominent corporate lawyer in Buenos Aires, Argentina and co-

---

<sup>3</sup> Because this appeal is from a judgment following the District Court’s order granting Uber’s 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the very detailed allegations in Rattagan’s Third Amended Complaint control. 2 ER 191-219. Rather than repeat those allegations in full here, the pertinent facts will be briefly summarized. Although Rattagan had filed an original Complaint and First and Second Amended Complaints, the Third Amended Complaint was the first *and only* complaint addressed on the merits by the District Court. Hereinafter, the Third Amended Complaint will be referred to as the TAC. *See* Procedural Background discussion *infra* at Section IV.B.

founder of the law firm Rattagan, Macchiavello Arocena. Rattagan was his firm's managing partner and the originating/responsible partner for all legal services provided by the firm to Uber. 2-ER-191. Separately, Mr. Rattagan was appointed as the "legal representative" in Argentina of two Uber Netherland-based subsidiaries (the "Dutch Entities" or "Foreign Subsidiaries") which would become the registered shareholders of Uber's Argentine entity registered in Buenos Aires. 2-ER-191. Throughout this time, Rattagan was the "legal representative" of the Foreign Subsidiaries in Argentina. 2-ER-191-92.

Uber is the now ubiquitous transportation provider that pairs drivers and riders through its technology platform, Uber Rideshare. Uber's principal place of business is San Francisco, California. As set forth in detail in the TAC, Uber had created a complicated web of entities which was designed to enable it to roll out its Rideshare around the world. 2-ER-191, 194-196. All of Uber's decisions giving rise to the allegations in the TAC, however, ultimately came directly from Uber's legal department in San Francisco and similarly, after 2015, all of Rattagan's legal advice and work product was provided directly to Uber's legal department in San Francisco. 2-ER-192. In short, by February 2015, Uber had established a direct attorney-client relationship with Rattagan. 2-ER-192.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Uber denies this, for purposes of this appeal, these allegations must be accepted as true. *See* section V. *infra*.

In early 2013, Rattagan was contacted by a New York University law school classmate (Liesbeth Ten Brink) who was an Uber lawyer in the Netherlands. She solicited Rattagan to form and register a local Buenos Aires entity in anticipation of Uber's expansion into South America (at the time, Uber was a nascent company that few people had heard of outside of San Francisco and New York). 2-ER-196-97. Ten Brink wrote an email to Rattagan from her @uber.com email address with the subject matter "Re Uber Argentina." She explained that "Uber was an American start-up company" (her words) that was expanding rapidly and was starting to consider Argentina. She attached a four-page request for a fee quote ("RFQ") which was replete with references to "Uber." The RFQ was on "Uber" letterhead. It provided background on "Uber" (her word) and a proposed scope of corporate work. 2-ER-200. Rattagan agreed to provide the requested corporate legal services. 2-ER-200. However, neither Rattagan nor Uber reduced their *de facto* arrangement to a formal engagement agreement. Rather, Rattagan and his team simply did the legal work requested and sent their bills wherever Uber directed them to be sent for payment. 2-ER-200-01, 205.

Rattagan also agreed to act as the legal representative of the Uber-owned Foreign Subsidiaries of the to-be-formed Argentine entity. 2-ER-200. Importantly, Rattagan explained to Ten Brink in writing that a "legal representative," is a local resident registered with the Buenos Aires Office of Corporations IGJ ("*Inspección*



*General de Justicia*” or “IGJ”) and serves as the human face of a foreign entity that wants to conduct business in Argentina on a permanent basis. 2-ER-192, 201. Rattagan further explained to Ten Brink in a detailed memorandum that acting as a legal representative is not merely a formality; rather, legal representatives face potential personal liability for wrongful acts of their principals. 2-ER-192, 201. Recognizing this, Uber even issued a letter of indemnity to Rattagan. 2-ER-193.

Throughout 2013, Rattagan and his firm colleagues provided legal advice to Uber on matters concerning the creation of an Argentine entity and prepared drafts of the company’s by-laws, certificates of incorporation, resolutions, key contracts and other legal documents. 2-ER-201-02. Although Rattagan and his firm did very little work for Uber in 2014, in early 2015, Uber began ramping up its plan to launch Rideshare in Argentina. To this end, Uber had Rattagan and his firm resume its corporate work. This time, however, Uber’s senior corporate paralegals in San Francisco took over direct responsibility for directing Rattagan’s legal team from Uber’s lawyers and paralegals in the Netherlands. 2-ER- 202-03.

Throughout 2015 and into early 2016 Rattagan and his firm colleagues exchanged hundreds of emails and draft documents with Uber’s senior paralegal team in San Francisco and had numerous telephone conferences regarding the legal issues surrounding its potential future expansion of Uber Rideshare in Argentina. Throughout this time, Rattagan remained the registered legal representative of the

Foreign Subsidiaries. 2-ER-203.

By March 2016, Uber had made the decision to launch Uber Rideshare the following month even though the Argentine entities were still in formation and had not been registered with the Buenos Aires tax authority as required by Argentine law. 2-ER-206. Despite knowing that Rattagan could be subject to personal liability for Uber Rideshare's violations of Argentine law as the Foreign Subsidiaries' legal representative, Uber concealed its impending launch plans from Rattagan. 2- ER-206.

Even more nefariously, between December 2015 and March 2016, Uber's government compliance team had several in-person meetings with Buenos Aires transportation department government officials to discuss Uber's plans. 2-ER-208-09. During the meetings, the Buenos Aires officials told Uber that its plan to launch Uber Rideshare would be considered unlawful unless and until it was in full compliance with all applicable Buenos Aires transportation regulations. Uber concealed these warnings from Rattagan and proceeded to launch on April 12, 2016 despite the warnings and even though Rattagan remained its legal representative. 2-ER-209-10.

Uber knew from its prior launch experiences in many other cities around the world that launching Uber Rideshare without complying with governmental regulations would be met with immediate and adverse reaction. 2-ER-207. In fact,

to counteract these foreseeable responses, Uber developed a written “how to” manual for its “armed forces” who were responsible for the launch. This war-styled strategy was similarly not shared with Rattagan. 2-ER-210. Even though Uber knew that Rattagan would bear the brunt of the unlawful launch as the legal representative of the Foreign Subsidiaries, it provided no prior notice or forewarning to Rattagan nor did it seek to remove him as legal representative in advance of the launch. Rattagan could do nothing to protect himself or his colleagues. 2-ER-193.

Predictably, within a couple of days of the launch, law enforcement authorities targeted the only public face of Uber in Argentina – Rattagan. Buenos Aires police raided Rattagan’s office and the homes of his business colleagues in connection with a charge that Rattagan, as the legal representative of “Uber,” was illegally using public space for commercial gain. The raid was televised on prime-time news programs. 2-ER -193, 211.

On April 15, 2016, Rattagan resigned from his representation of Uber and asked to be replaced as legal representative of the Foreign Subsidiaries. Despite his resignation, and despite multiple subsequent requests from Rattagan, Uber slow-walked submitting the necessary documents for removing Rattagan as representative in the official documents filed with the IGJ. 2-ER-212. Instead, Uber caused to be delivered to Buenos Aires officials an informal letter that continued to use Rattagan’s firm’s name and address, thereby falsely implying that Rattagan was part

of, consented to, or ratified Uber unlawful actions. 2-ER-212. For approximately two months following Rattagan's resignation, Uber operated Uber Rideshare with a full cadre of drivers while Rattagan remained, as far as the IGJ and the City authorities knew, the sole legal representative of the Foreign Subsidiaries. 2-ER-213.

Although Rattagan had no role in or knowledge of Uber's actions leading up to and following its launch of Uber Rideshare, Uber's conscious disregard of the warnings by Buenos Aires government officials, its concealment of these meetings and warnings from Rattagan, its inexcusable failure to timely replace him as legal representative of the two Foreign Subsidiaries before the launch, and its decision not to advise City officials immediately after the launch that Rattagan had no involvement whatsoever, resulted in the City prosecutor concluding that Rattagan helped design, plan, and implement the Uber Rideshare launch. Rattagan was subsequently charged with the unauthorized use of public space with a commercial aim and eventually aggravated tax evasion. 2-ER-213-14.

As a result of the charges, Rattagan was temporarily banned from traveling abroad, which prevented him from conducting his professional activities and jeopardized his key and essential contribution to his firm. Moreover, Rattagan's carefully cultivated reputation for honesty and integrity was significantly harmed, as Rattagan's name became synonymous with aggravated tax evasion and illegal

commercial operations by a foreign multinational. 2-ER-214.

## **B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND**

On April 12, 2019, Rattagan filed his original complaint naming Uber and the Dutch Entities. 3-ER-446. The core allegations of this pleading are similar to those of the TAC except it sought relief directly from the Dutch Entities which had initially hired Rattagan. Uber persuaded Rattagan's prior counsel that including the Dutch Entities as parties was a fatal misjoinder because they were not subject to the District Court's jurisdiction. Consequently, Rattagan voluntarily filed a First Amended Complaint ("FAC") naming Uber as the sole defendant and removing any references to the Foreign Subsidiaries. 3-ER-424. But the FAC also removed all allegations that the Dutch Entities had initially hired Rattagan and instead alleged he was hired by Uber itself.

This was a monumental error by Rattagan's counsel because although the Dutch Entities did in fact hire Rattagan – in 2013 – they were shell companies completely controlled by Uber. Rattagan should have alleged in the FAC the detailed allegations of these facts that are included in the TAC. 2-ER-200-02. Instead, the FAC simply ignored these facts and alleged only that there was a direct attorney-client relationship between Rattagan and Uber. 3-ER-424, 440-43.

Uber seized on this error and filed a motion for sanctions and dismissal of the FAC under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11. 3-ER-336. Uber argued that the

allegations in the FAC that Rattagan had a direct attorney-client and contractual relationship with Uber were false because Rattagan previously alleged that he was hired by the Foreign Subsidiaries. 3-ER-336. In its motion, Uber presented selective and misleading evidence to support its argument that Uber – as distinct from the Dutch Entities - never had a direct attorney-client relationship with Rattagan. 3-ER-337, 342-43. However, Uber lied to the District Court. The emails and documents that Uber had in its possession establish that in February 2015, Uber and Rattagan forged a direct attorney-client relationship that lasted until after the Uber launch in April 2016. 2-ER-193, 200, 202-06.

Unfortunately, Rattagan's prior counsel was ill-prepared to counter Uber's misrepresentations because he had not obtained the key documents from Rattagan proving the direct implied-in-fact attorney-client relationship with Uber. On August 19, 2019, the District Court granted Uber's Rule 11 motion. The Court dismissed the FAC as a sanction, but with leave to amend. The Court did not rule on Uber's 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. 3-ER-254.

Rattagan's prior counsel subsequently filed a Second Amended Complaint which began to lay out the facts of Uber's control over the Foreign Subsidiaries. 2-ER-226. Thereafter, Rattagan's current counsel substituted into the action and sought and was granted leave to file the TAC. 2-ER-219, 2-ER-190. Before doing so, however, new counsel traveled to Buenos Aires and met with Rattagan and

several other witnesses and reviewed hundreds of emails and documents sent to and received from Uber's legal department in San Francisco. As a result of this exhaustive investigation and based primarily on documents in Uber's possession, the TAC alleges in great detail how: (1) Rattagan was initially hired by an Uber lawyer (Ten Brink) on behalf of the Dutch Entities; (2) the *de facto* attorney-client arrangement was an implied-in-fact contract with no discernible terms other than payment by Uber for services by Rattagan; (3) Uber, as principal, controlled the shell Dutch Entities; (4) the relationship morphed in early 2015 into a direct *de facto* attorney-client relationship with Uber; and (5) Uber fraudulently concealed from Rattagan its launch plans and its meetings with and warnings from the Buenos Aires government officials all the while knowing Rattagan was in direct harm's way.

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