S272113

No. 20-16796

IN THE

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

MICHAEL R. RATTAGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

U.

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Defendant-Appellee.

On Appeal from the United States District Court for the Northern District of California No. 3:19-CV-01988 (Chen, J.)

ANSWERING BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Clara J. Shin
Jeffrey M. Davidson
Amy S. Heath
COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
Salesforce Tower
415 Mission Street, Suite 5400
San Francisco, CA 94105-2533
(415) 591-6000

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee Uber Technologies, Inc.

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

The same reasoning applies here. Rattagan alleged that the contractual attorney-client relationship supplied Uber Technologies' duty to disclose its launch plans to Rattagan. See 2-ER-214-15 ¶¶ 83-84 ("Based on the direct attorney-client relationship between [Uber Technologies] and Rattagan starting in 2015... [Uber Technologies] both directly and as principal owed Rattagan a duty to disclose all facts known to [it] that were material to both Rattagan's legal representation and his role as legal representative of the Foreign Entities."); 2-ER-217 ¶¶ 98-99 (similar). The District Court held that "[t]hese allegations are squarely inconsistent with his now-raised assertion that Uber Technologies breached a duty that was 'independent of the contract." 1-ER-17.

Nowhere does Rattagan allege any source of a duty independent of the alleged contractual relationship. See 2-ER-190-218. Nor could there plausibly be one; an attorney-client relationship by its nature is contractual. Under these circumstances, the District Court correctly determined that the independent duty exception does not apply. See, e.g., Archer, 53 Cal. App. 5th at 278 (affirming dismissal of negligence claim based on economic loss rule where plaintiff argued his claim was not based on the contract but failed to identify any independent duty); Neu v.

Terminix Int'l, Inc., No. C 07-6472 CW, 2008 WL 962096, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 8, 2008) (dismissing breach of duty to warn claim where complaint did not identify "any duty outside of the duties arising under the contract").

Rattagan's argument that the law of agency supplies an independent duty does not lead to a different result. Applt. Br. 27-30. A broad range of contracts give rise to agency relationships, and those contracts do not escape the economic loss rule simply because they create an agency relationship. See Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006) (listing common types of agency contracts, including employer-employee and real estate, literary, and sports agent contracts). None of the cases cited by Rattagan authorizes tort claims in agency relationships defined by contract. Indeed, none of his agency cases address the economic loss rule at all. Applt. Br. 27-30.7 The fact that an attorney by definition acts

⁷ Yanchor v. Kagan, 22 Cal. App. 3d 544, 549 (1971), mentions agency law only when discussing whether an attorney can bind a client to a contract. Applt. Br. 27. It does not address a *client's* duty to its attorney. Cunningham v. Northern California Region, LLC, No. A147128, 2017 WL 2666110, at *4 (Cal. Ct. App. June 21, 2017), which is unpublished and unciteable in California, merely assumed that an agency relationship could give rise to a duty to disclose, and it went on to find no breach of duty. Walter v. Libby, 72 Cal. App. 2d 138, 144 (1945), concerns the

as his client's agent does not exempt all attorney-client contracts from the economic loss rule. If anything, protecting the attorney-client relationship would weigh strongly against permitting the attorney to sue his client in tort.

II. Rattagan Waived His Remaining Arguments By Failing To Present Them To The District Court.

Rattagan makes several other arguments against application of the economic loss rule, but he forfeited these arguments by failing to present them to the District Court. "Absent exceptional circumstances, [this Court] generally will not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal" AMA Multimedia, LLC v. Wanat, 970 F.3d 1201, 1213 (9th Cir. 2020) (quoting In re Am. W. Airlines, Inc., 217 F.3d 1161, 1165 (9th Cir. 2000)). This rule "serves to ensure that legal arguments are considered with the benefit of a fully developed factual record, offers

circumstances in which a principal (in that case, a landowner) can end the agency relationship with an agent (a real estate broker). *Burton Way Hotels, Ltd. v. Four Seasons Hotels Ltd.*, No. CV 11-303 PSG (PLAx), 2012 WL 12883616, at *17 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 23, 2012), features a principal suing its agent, not the other way around. And *Lawrence Warehouse Co. v. Twohig*, 224 F.2d 493, 498 (8th Cir. 1955), a case about hijacked beef carcasses, addressed whether a principal was unjustly enriched by its failure to disclose the hijacking to its cattle-purchasing agent; it says nothing about whether an attorney can sue its client in tort through an exception to the economic loss rule.

appellate courts the benefit of the district court's prior analysis, and prevents parties from sandbagging their opponents with new arguments on appeal." *Dream Palace v. Cnty. of Maricopa*, 384 F.3d 990, 1005 (9th Cir. 2004). No "exceptional circumstances" warrant any exception here.

A. Rattagan Did Not Present The Remaining Arguments To The District Court.

For an argument to be considered on appeal, it "must have been raised sufficiently for the trial court to rule on it." A-1 Ambulance Serv., Inc. v. Cnty. of Monterey, 90 F.3d 333, 338 (9th Cir. 1996). Rattagan did not do so. In the District Court, Rattagan opposed application of the economic loss rule on two grounds, in addition to the independent duty argument discussed above: (1) the economic loss rule purportedly only applies to construction or product defect cases where physical injury is possible, 2-ER-102; and (2) Rattagan purportedly alleged fraudulent inducement, to which the economic loss rule does not apply, 2-ER-103.

The District Court correctly disposed of these arguments. The first is unsupported by law; courts regularly apply the economic loss rule outside the construction and product defect contexts. *See, e.g., Archer*, 53 Cal. App. 5th at 278 (applying rule to cryptocurrency exchange services);

Food Safety Net Servs., 209 Cal. App. 4th at 1132 (applying rule to safety testing services). And the second misstated Rattagan's claim, which is a fraudulent concealment claim, not a fraudulent inducement claim. See 1-ER-13-14; see, e.g., 2-ER-214-15 ¶¶ 83-84 (alleging fraudulent concealment claim based upon 2016 breach of contract formed in 2015). Rattagan does not contend that these rulings were incorrect.

Having lost on these arguments, Rattagan now advances three arguments that he did not raise below and are therefore waived. *First*, he argues that the economic loss rule does not apply to fraudulent omission claims. Applt. Br. 31-37. He did not brief this argument before the District Court, nor did he raise it at the motion to dismiss hearing. *See* 2-ER-102-04 (opposition to motion to dismiss); 2-ER-21-57 (hearing transcript).

Second, Rattagan argues that the rule does not apply to professional services contracts. Applt. Br. 46-48. Once again, Rattagan neither briefed nor argued this purported exception to the District Court, thereby waiving it. See 2-ER-102-04 (opposition to motion to dismiss); 2-ER-21-57 (hearing transcript).

Third, Rattagan contends that the so-called special relationship exception, which imposes a duty of care to avoid negligently causing purely economic losses to third parties, saves his claims. Applt. Br. 38-46. He did not advance this argument in opposing Uber Technologies' motion to dismiss. See 2-ER-102-04. He did mention the exception in passing at the hearing, but he did not explain the purported exception, give any reason why it would apply, or address any of the six factors that a court must assess to determine whether the exception applies. This was insufficient to allow the District Court to rule on the issue. See A-1 Ambulance Serv., 90 F.3d at 338.

This Court has found waiver in similar circumstances. For example, in *Greisen v. Hanken*, a First Amendment retaliation case, the appellant had made a "cryptic allusion" to "*Pickering* balancing" in a post-trial motion, then briefly argued in his reply that *Pickering* balancing should apply. 925 F.3d 1097, 1115 & n.6 (9th Cir. 2019). This Court held that the "cryptic allusion" in the opening brief before the district court

⁸ Rattagan does not address his waiver of these arguments in his opening brief, other than to assert that he preserved the special relationship exception by alluding to it orally at the hearing. *See* Applt. Br. 38 & n.17.

was "insufficient to raise the issue," and that the district court "appropriately declined to consider" an argument presented for the first time in a reply brief. *Id.* This Court held that the appellant had waived the argument and declined to consider it on appeal. *See id.*; *see also Zamani v. Carnes*, 491 F.3d 990, 997 (9th Cir. 2007) ("The district court need not consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief.").

If a district court need not consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief, it certainly need not consider unbriefed arguments raised for the first time at a hearing. See, e.g., Quillan v. Cigna Healthcare of Cal., Inc., No. 15-cv-00989-EMC, 2016 WL 1461491, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 14, 2016) ("that argument has been waived, as Plaintiff brought it up for the first time at the hearing"); Day v. Sears Holding Corp., 930 F. Supp. 2d 1146, 1168 n.84 (C.D. Cal. 2013) (collecting cases declining to consider arguments raised for the first time at a hearing).

The transcript makes Rattagan's waiver plain. The entire hearing exchange related to the special relationship exception is as follows:

The Court: You think this is like a plea in the alternative; that is—

[Rattagan's counsel]: That's it exactly.

The Court: —if [the contract] claim is out, then you should be able to recover a tort claim, but the problem is that tort claim is still rooted in the contract. I mean—

[Rattagan's counsel]: It is not, and that's—

The Court: How is it not?

[Rattagan's counsel]: I'll tell you how it's not. We have a special relationship. This is called a special relationship exception. And let me cite—the cases are cited in I think both parties' briefs—*UMG Recording, Inc. vs. Global Eagle Entertainment, Inc.*, 117 F. Supp. 3d 1092.9 And what that case says, and there are other cases that I will cite you if you'd like, there are other cases that say if a special relationship existed between the parties, a party can still recover from California's economic loss rule or otherwise apply to bar tort recovery. My point is this: There's two ways to look at this—oops.

(Pause in proceedings.)

* * *

[Rattagan's counsel]: Okay. So there's two ways to look at this. . . . Uber has taken the position that other than paying a client's—a lawyer's bills, a client has no duty. And I'm going to come to that in a minute. But under the *UMG Recordings* case, there's—let me give you two other cases, *Takano vs. Procter & Gamble*, 2018 WL5374817, Eastern District of California case; and, last, *Avago* — A-V-A-G-O — *Technologies U.S., Inc. vs. Venture Capital Limited*.

The Court: Are these cited in your brief? I'm looking.

[Rattagan's counsel]: They are not. This is what—so what we did was we went back and looked at this economic loss rule,

⁹ Rattagan had cited this case, but not with respect to its comments on the special relationship doctrine. 2-ER-104.

and we dove deeper into their reply brief. And what Uber has not—what Uber has not told it—has not addressed with the Court—and, frankly, maybe it was our oversight as well—that there is another exception; but before you get to exception—to an exception, you have to apply the rule.

2-ER-43:25-46:15.

Rattagan's counsel then changed to another topic and did not return to the exception until the very end of the hearing, when he stated, without elaboration, "And the special relationship exception that I quoted those three cases, clearly an attorney and a client is a special relationship." See 2-ER-46:16-57:10. No district court could reasonably be expected to rule on an argument expressed in this manner. As this Court has aptly stated, "judges are not 'like pigs... hunting for truffles" buried in parties' briefs or referenced in passing at hearings. See G & G Prods. v. Rusic, 902 F.3d 940, 950 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoting Guatay Christian Fellowship v. Cnty. of San Diego, 670 F.3d 957, 987 (9th Cir. 2011)). 10

¹⁰ The cases Rattagan cites for his assertion that raising an issue at a hearing preserves it are not to the contrary. Applt. Br. 38-39 n.17. All of them involved situations either where the district court had addressed the issue on the merits, or where this Court exercised its discretion to excuse the waiver.

Rattagan's passing mention of the special relationship exception at the hearing did not sufficiently present the issue to the District Court, and that argument, too, is waived.

B. The Court Should Not Exercise Its Discretion To Hear Rattagan's Waived Arguments.

No party has a right to have arguments considered for the first time on appeal. A-1 Ambulance Serv., 90 F.3d at 339; AMA Multimedia, 970 F.3d at 1214. The Court has exercised its discretion to excuse a waiver only where: "(1) there are exceptional circumstances why the issue was not raised in the trial court; (2) the new issue arises while the appeal is pending because of a change in the law; or (3) the issue presented is a pure question of law and the opposing party will suffer no prejudice as a result of the failure to raise the issue in the trial court." AMA Multimedia, 970 F.3d at 1214 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Even when one of these exceptions applies, "review of such unraised issues is discretionary, not automatic," *A-1 Ambulance Serv.*, 90 F.3d at 339, and the Court must "still decide whether the particular circumstances of the case overcome [the] presumption against hearing new arguments," *Raich v. Gonzales*, 500 F.3d 850, 868 (9th Cir. 2007). What occurred here—"[a] party's unexplained failure to raise an

argument that was indisputably available below"—presents "perhaps the least 'exceptional' circumstance warranting [the Court's] exercise of this discretion." *AMA Multimedia*, 970 F.3d at 1214-15 (quoting *G & G Prods.*, 902 F.3d at 950).

First, it is entirely Rattagan's fault that he did not timely raise these arguments in the District Court. See A-1 Ambulance, 90 F.3d at 339 (disagreeing with district court's methodology but affirming based on waiver because "the County is responsible for failing to raise both adequately and timely this argument in the district court"). Uber Technologies argued economic loss in two rounds of motions to dismiss that were briefed over the course of a year. See 2-ER-174-75; 1-SER-21-22, 45-46; 2-SER-322-23. Yet, Rattagan still failed to present his current arguments to the District Court. Rattagan was represented by capable counsel, he is himself a U.S.-educated attorney, and the waived arguments are not based on new law or recent cases. He simply failed to timely and adequately raise them.

Second, throughout the District Court proceedings, Rattagan manipulated his allegations for procedural advantage. He sued Uber Technologies, with which he did not have a relevant relationship, to try

to recover beyond the limits in the indemnity agreements with the International Entities. 2-ER-140-42, 150-52; 3-ER-446. He dropped the International Entities, with which he had more relevant relationships, to manufacture federal jurisdiction. 3-ER-424. He made false statements in his complaint, as the District Court found. 2-ER-261. He asserted tort claims rather than contract claims to escape the statute of limitations. See 1-ER-7-13. And now he raises a host of new arguments on appeal. The equities do not favor allowing him to continue to flout the rules that ensure orderly and efficient litigation.

Third, by Rattagan's own admission, reaching the merits will require the Court to make new California law on both economic loss and the attorney-client relationship. See Applt. Br. 3-4 & n.2 (acknowledging that "there seems to be no prior case that has explored the boundaries of legal duties running from client to lawyer in the tort context"); id. at 47 ("there seems to be no case that has addressed the question of whether a claim for fraudulent concealment may be pursued by the service provider against the customer or client").

This case offers no equities supporting the irregular procedure of considering California tort law issues for the first time on appeal.

III. Rattagan's Third Amended Complaint Does Not Qualify For Any Exception To The Economic Loss Rule.

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